IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Petitioner,

V.

GABRIEL IBARRA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Nov 23 2016 10:26 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

CASE NO: 69617

PETITION FOR REVIEW

COMES NOW the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney, through his Chief Deputy, STEVEN S. OWENS, and petitions this court for review in the above-captioned case.

This petition is based on the following memorandum of points and authorities and all papers and pleadings on file herein.

Dated this 23rd day of November, 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar # 001565

BY /s/ Steven S. Owens

STEVEN S. OWENS Chief Deputy District Attorney Nevada Bar # 004352 Office of the Clark County District Attorney

MEMORANDUM POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

On November 8, 2016, the Court of Appeals in a split 2-1 decision, vacated the Judgment of Conviction and remanded for a discharge from custody after finding insufficient evidence to sustain a jury verdict of guilt as to the crime of Larceny from the Person. Exhibit 1, attached hereto. Pursuant to NRAP 40B, a party aggrieved by a decision of the Court of Appeals may file a petition for review with the clerk of the Supreme Court within 18 days. The petition must state the question presented for review and the reason review is warranted. Supreme Court review is not a matter of right but of judicial discretion. The following, while neither controlling nor fully measuring the Supreme Court's discretion, are factors that will be considered in the exercise of that discretion: 1) Whether the question presented is one of first impression of general statewide significance; 2) Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court; or 3) Whether the case involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance. NRAP 40B(a). The petition shall succinctly state the precise basis on which the party seeks review by the Supreme Court and may include citation of authority in support of that contention.

¹ Per NRAP 40B(d), the State has attached a copy of the Order Vacating Judgment and Remanding.

The State files the instant petition for review on grounds that the correct statutory interpretation of Larceny from the Person is a fundamental issue of statewide public importance. At the heart of this appeal and the split in the lower appellate court, is the continued viability of the nearly 50 year-old Terral case which limited the crime of Larceny from the Person in Nevada to "pickpockets, purse snatchers, jewel abstracters and the like," where "the person of another has been violated and his privacy directly invaded." Terral v. State, 84 Nev. 412, 413-14, 442 P.2d 465, 465 (1968). The majority felt constrained to follow this language from Terral while the dissent found it violated rules of statutory interpretation and strayed from the plain and unambiguous language of the statute. The issue presented is also one of first impression insofar as the majority used Terral as authority to exclude a taking from the person by deceit or trickery from the definition of Larceny from the Person, which the majority insists must be limited to surreptitious takings from the person by stealth. This Court's review is necessary to resolve the uncertainty in the law and to revisit the wisdom of Terral.

The essential facts are not in dispute. Appellant approached the victim who was texting with her iPhone at a bus stop and asked to borrow her phone to make a call. The victim agreed and handed Appellant her phone after dialing the number for him. Appellant took the phone from the victim's hand and put it to his ear, but

within seconds began to walk and then run away from her with the phone. The crime of Larceny from the Person is defined as occurring when, "A person who, under circumstances not amounting to robbery, with the intent to steal or appropriate to his or her own use, takes property from the person of another, without the other person's consent." NRS 205.270. The jury was instructed on these elements and found them all beyond a reasonable doubt. Yet, the majority found the evidence insufficient because, "Ibarra plainly did not 'violate' the victim's person and 'directly invade' her privacy." Obviously, the jury found otherwise as it convicted Appellant of Larceny from the Person instead of misdemeanor Petit Larceny, even though it was instructed on this very language from Terral concerning an invasion of privacy.

The majority further concluded that although the evidence supports Appellant's intent to steal the phone, it does not show that he initially took the phone from the victim's person without her consent. In reliance upon <u>Terral</u>, the majority reasoned that Larceny from the Person is restricted to "pickpockets, purse snatchers, jewel abstracters and the like." <u>Id</u>. In effect, the majority applied <u>Terral</u> to limit Larceny from the Person to situations where the taking was accomplished by means of stealth. But that's not what the statute says. Instead, the nonconsensual larcenous taking need only be from the person and must not be accomplished by force or fear of injury because such would amount to robbery. See NRS 200.380. There is no

basis in the statute for restricting Larceny from the Person only to surreptitious takings by stealth in violation of a right of privacy.

One cannot separate the intent to steal from the victim's consent as the majority does. The consent with which the phone was offered was for the limited purpose of temporarily using it to make a phone call. The consent element applies not just to any kind of "taking," but to a taking as modified by the phrase, "with the intent to steal." The majority reads the phrase, "with the intent to steal," as modifying "person," but it does not; it modifies "takes." Because the victim in this case did not consent to the larcenous taking of her phone, the crime is one of Larceny from the Person. This same reasoning is employed in the construction of the Burglary statute as it relates to commercial businesses open to the public. In that context, the authority to enter a building open to the public extends only to those who enter with a purpose consistent with the reason the building is open. State v. Adams, 94 Nev. 503, 505, 581 P.2d 868, 869 (1978). An entry with intent to commit larceny cannot be said to be within the authority granted customers of a business establishment. Id. Likewise, a taking with intent to commit larceny cannot be said to be within the consent of one who temporarily loans property for a specific purpose.

Certainly, surreptitious takings are accomplished without the knowledge of the victim and can be assumed to be without the victim's consent, but so too, can a taking be without consent when it exceeds the limited authority and purpose to which the victim acquiesced. Pickpockets and purse snatchers operate by ruse, sleight of hand, deceit, and distraction to accomplish their larceny. There is no reason to exclude the type of deceitful taking in the present case which is no less of a violation of the victim's person. Even if the legislature intended the crime to protect privacy, one who has been duped into handing over his property has his personal privacy invaded no less than one who has been pickpocketed. The majority would subjugate the facts of this case to a simple misdemeanor petit larceny for lack of a sufficient privacy violation and stealth even though Appellant took the phone directly from the victim's hand.

In his dissent, Judge Tao is critical of the majority for going beyond the plain language of the Larceny from the Person statute to require some kind of privacy violation as derived from Terral:

The gravamen of the offense is that the person of another has been violated and his privacy directly invaded.

<u>Terral</u>, 84 Nev. at 414. If this language is allowed to persist, it would not be the first time this Court's speculation about legislative intent based on some perceived "gravamen" test has resulted in years of inconsistent results and bad law. See

Jackson v. State, 128 Nev. , 291 P.3d 1274 (2012) (rejecting "gravamen" of the offense test for discerning legislative intent in the redundancy context). Such a subjective rationale provides a ready excuse for judicial license to interpret legislative intent entirely divorced from analysis of the statutory text. Nor is resorting to common law appropriate to discern legislative intent as this Court did in artificially narrowing the crime of Burglary to exclude situations where there is an "absolute right to enter," or a "possessory right of habitation." State v. White, 130 Nev. , 330 P.3d 482, 485 (2014). Whatever those terms may mean, they are not derived from the statutory text but are a product of judicial construct for what the court believes the law used to and still should be. When faced with the same situation, the Supreme Court wisely refused to rely upon the common law as an aid to judicial interpretation of a modern burglary statute. Taylor v. United States, 495 U.S. 575, 592-95, 110 S. Ct. 2143, 2155-56 (1990). Likewise, what common law larceny from the person may have meant under "the Statute of 8 Elizabeth in the 16th Century," has little relevance to the language of our modern statute which has been amended several times.

Since its publication, <u>Terral</u> has been seldom cited or relied upon in Nevada, but has received attention in other jurisdictions as representative of a minority view. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>People v. Anthony</u>, 494 Mich. 669, 678-79, 837 N.W.2d 415, 420 (2013).

Other jurisdictions perceive Larceny from the Person not as protecting a right of privacy, but of protecting against the risk of violence or physical injury to the person, which does not exist with simple misdemeanor larceny. <u>United States v. McVicar</u>, 907 F.2d 1, 2 (1st Cir. 1990); <u>see also State v. Tramble</u>, 144 Ariz. 48, 52, 695 P.2d 737, 741 (1985); <u>People v. Anthony</u>, 494 Mich. 669, 678-79, 837 N.W.2d 415, 420 (2013), <u>citing State v Eno</u>, 8 Minn 220, 223; 8 Gilf. 190 (1863) (Describing Larceny from the Person as protecting "the rights of the person to inviolability" and "personal security"). This demonstrates the subjectivity and inconsistency of relying upon a perceived "gravamen" test instead of the plain language the legislature drafted.

On the facts of this case, the taking was actually from the victim's person, not her presence, so this Court need not be concerned with overruling Terral's conclusion that Larceny from the Person does not extend to a person's presence as expressly contemplated in the Robbery statute. But this Court should trust to the plain language of the statute for defining its scope instead of trying to impose some additional criteria such as privacy or stealth. Appellant took the phone directly from the victim's hand. He intended to steal it when he took it. The victim did not consent to the larcenous taking of the phone, but only to its temporary usage. The arresting officer believed the facts of this case to constitute Larceny from the Person, as did the prosecuting attorney who reviewed and filed the charges, as did the Justice of

the Peace who found probable cause and bound the charge over for trial, as did the district court judge who denied the pre-trial writ of habeas corpus on this very issue, as did the twelve jurors who unanimously found all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt even after being instructed pursuant to <u>Terral</u>, and now as did a dissenting justice of the Court of Appeals. Where so many reasonable minds have found these facts satisfy the plain language of the statute, the judiciary should not subjectively limit the statute's scope based on some perceived "gravamen" or assumption about legislative intent not found in the text itself.

WHEREFORE, the State respectfully requests that this Court grant review and affirm the conviction in this appeal.

Dated this 23rd day of November, 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar # 001565

BY /s/ Steven S. Owens

STEVEN S. OWENS
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #004352
Office of the Clark County District Attorney
Regional Justice Center
200 Lewis Avenue
Post Office Box 552212
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2750

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

- 1. I hereby certify that this petition for review or answer complies with the formatting requirements of NRAP 32(a)(4), the typeface requirements of NRAP 32(a)(5) and the type style requirements of NRAP 32(a)(6) because it has been prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface using Microsoft Word 2013 in 14 point font of the Times New Roman style.
- **2. I further certify** that this petition complies with the type-volume limitations of NRAP 40, 40A and 40B because it is proportionately spaced, has a typeface of 14 points and contains no more than 1,874 words.

Dated this 23rd day of November, 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar # 001565

BY /s/ Steven S. Owens

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #004352
Office of the Clark County District Attorney
Regional Justice Center
200 Lewis Avenue
Post Office Box 552212
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2570