IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

))

GABRIEL IBARRA,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

No. 69617 Electronically Filed Feb 02 2017 04:24 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT IBARRA'S RESPONSE TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ARGUMENT

THE STATE SEEKS TO EVISCERATE LEGISLATIVE INTENT; THE STATE CREATED A PROBLEM BY CHARGING THE WRONG CRIME, AND NOW THEY WANT THE SUPREME COURT TO FIX THAT PROBLEM BY CHANGING THE STATUTE.

Neither Judge Tao's 17 page dissent nor the State's nine page Petition for Review addresses the most obvious and powerful statement of legislative intent with regards to the facts of this case.

The Appellant committed a crime, and the Legislature created statutes that provided criminal liability for the Appellant's criminal acts.

When a person is entrusted with property, and that person converts the property to his or her own use, the crime of embezzlement has occurred. Because the Appellant was entrusted with the telephone and he stole it, he committed the crime of embezzlement.

When a person obtains property by false pretenses, one commits the crime of obtaining property by false pretenses. If the Appellant's statement that he wanted to use the phone to make a call was a false pretense, then he committed this crime. The Nevada Legislature provided criminal liability for embezzlement, NRS 205.0832(1)(b), and obtaining property by false pretenses, NRS 205.0832(1)(c) in the theft statute. NRS 205.0832.

If the Nevada Legislature has provided precise criminal liability for the acts of the Appellant in NRS 205.0832, why does the State desire to reinterpret NRS 205.270 to include acts of embezzlement or obtaining property by false pretenses? Well, the only reasonable answer is that the State made a mistake in their charging decision and the State now hopes the Supreme Court will remedy their error by re-defining the statute to fit the crime.

By creating laws that directly addressed the circumstances of this case, the Legislature revealed their intent: they intended that NRS 205.0832, not NRS 205.270, apply to the facts of this case.

THE STATE'S ARGUMENT ATTEMPTS TO RE-WRITE NRS 205.270 TO ELIMINATE THE "CONSENT" LANGUAGE FROM THE STATUTE.

The majority and concurring opinions of the Court of Appeals correctly state that Judge Tao's dissenting position would effectively eliminate the "consent" requirement from the statute and thereby violate the intent of the Legislature. If the Legislature has an intent to eliminate the "consent" requirement, then the Legislature can accomplish that result by amending the statute.

THE APPELLANT WILL NOT SUMMARIZE THE EXTENSIVE CASELAW CITED BY THE MAJORITY AND CONCURRING OPINIONS TO REBUT THE ARGUMENT BY THE DISSENTING JUDGE AND THE STATE OF NEVADA.

The majority and concurring opinions of the Court of Appeals cite an extensive and impressive array of law to rebut the arguments of the dissenting opinion. The Appellant can see no utility in repeating that authority.

SUMMARY

The State erred by charging the wrong crime in this case. The facts of this case are precisely described by NRS 205.0832, which prohibits embezzlement and the obtaining of property by false pretenses. The Court of Appeals correctly vacated the judgment of larceny from the person in a case where the facts did not fit the statutory crime. The State's Petition for Review should be denied.

DATED this 2nd day of February, 2017.

Respectfully submitted, PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

By <u>/s/ Howard S. Brooks</u> HOWARD S. BROOKS, #3374 Deputy Public Defender